IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S209376

Conservatorship of the Estate of IDA McQUEEN:

SUPREME COURT FILED

FESSHA TAYE, as Conservator of the Estate of Ida McQueen, Plaintiff and Respondent,

AUG - 9 2013

V

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

CAROL VERES REED, Defendant and Appellant.

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Four Case No. A134337

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DANIEL D. MURPHY (SBN 129100) 819 Eddy Street San Francisco, CA 94109-7701 T: (415) 771-6174

AUDRA IBARRA (SBN 177464) Law Office of Audra Ibarra 530 Lytton Avenue, 2nd Floor Palo Alto, CA 94301 T: (650) 714-2270

F: (650) 617-3201

E: ai@aiappeals.com

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the procedures for collection of post-judgment costs under Code of Civil Procedure §§ 685.040, *et seq.* govern the claims of a successful plaintiff for statutorily mandated fees under California's Elder Abuse Act for her efforts at protecting her judgment.
- 2. Whether satisfaction of the underlying elder financial abuse judgment acts as a bar to a subsequent motion for attorney fees by petitioner.

INTRODUCTION

This is a case about access to justice for Ida McQueen (a mentally and physically disabled 78-year old, who cannot read or write), other victims of elder abuse and other civil litigants whose goal is to right a wrong under a statute that authorizes attorney fees and costs.

Most of us know the basic rules governing attorney fee awards in civil litigation. Under the English Rule, the loser in a civil case pays for the winner's attorney fees. The Rule is followed in England and in most Western countries, other than the United States. The philosophy behind the English Rule is that a party is entitled to legal

representation to prosecute or defend his claim and should not have to incur the cost of his representation if his claim was righteous. Proponents of the English Rule believe that because the Rule encourages righteous claims and discourages frivolous ones, it ultimately reduces litigation.

By contrast, under the American Rule, each party pays for his own attorney fees regardless of the outcome of a case, unless otherwise authorized by statute or contract between the parties. The philosophy behind the American Rule is that a party should be free to prosecute or defend his claim if he perceives it to be righteous and should not be discouraged by fear of potential liability for the opposing party's attorney fees. Proponents of the American Rule believe that parties to a contract should be able to decide whether a fee shifting provision would be beneficial to them and that the legislature can authorize fee shifting where public policy objectives require it.

Public policy requires an attorney fee shifting statute when without one, an individual or group would not have access to justice.

In other words, they could not otherwise afford to right a wrong. In

essence, attorney fee shifting statutes are our societal safety net to protect those who need it most.

The court of appeal's ruling in this case unravels that safety net.

The ruling effectively denies justice to Ida McQueen, other victims of elder abuse and other civil litigants who want to right a wrong under a statute that authorizes attorney fees and costs.

After a jury trial, Fessha Taye, the conservator for Ida McQueen (collectively plaintiff), prevailed in an action for financial elder abuse against Carol Veres Reed (defendant). Plaintiff also prevailed in defending the judgment on defendant's first appeal, and successfully brought a separate lawsuit against defendant to prevent her from transferring real property to third parties in an attempt to avoid satisfaction of the judgment. As a result, defendant paid the judgment. Plaintiff then moved for attorney fees and costs incurred in the appeal and separate lawsuit. Although the trial court granted the motion for fees, the court of appeal reversed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND THE CASE

In 2006, plaintiff sued defendant and several others for financial elder abuse, fraud and concealment, conversion, breach of fiduciary duty and negligence. (*In the Matter of Reed* (Cal. State Bar Hearing

Dept. Dec. 15, 2011), p. 8, ¶ 16 (hereinafter *Reed*). Plaintiff claimed that they violated the terms of a trust set up for the disabled and elderly Ida McQueen, when they sold the family residence, in which McQueen held a life estate, without her consent or knowledge, and then misappropriated the sales proceeds for their own use. (*Id.*, p. 7, ¶¶ 6-12, n. 3.) Defendant was the family attorney who probated the estate of McQueen's father, created the trust holding McQueen's life estate in the family home, then played an active role in the subsequent sale of the property and distribution of its sales proceeds. (*Ibid.*)

A jury found defendant liable for financial elder abuse, breach of fiduciary duty as an attorney and conversion. (*Reed, supra*, p. 8, ¶ 16.) On September 11, 2009, judgment was entered against defendant and two others for \$99,900 in compensatory damages. (*Id.*, ¶¶ 16-17.) Because defendant was found liable under the financial elder abuse statute, which requires shifting of attorney fees and costs, she was ordered to pay \$320,748.25 in fees and costs to plaintiff. (*Order Granting in Part Attorneys' Fees and Costs Pursuant to Welf. & Inst.*

This document was attached as document number 5 to plaintiff's *Motion to Augment the Record* filed in the court of appeal on September 5, 2012. The *Motion to Augment* was granted on September 25, 2012.

Code §15657.5, filed in Alameda County Super. Ct on June 25, 2009, p. 9.2)

Defendant and the others appealed, but the court of appeal affirmed the judgment. (*Reed*, *supra*, p. 8, ¶ 17.) This Court denied review and ordered the opinion depublished. (*Conservatorship of McQueen* (Mar. 14, 2011, A126825) review denied and opn. ordered nonpub. June 8, 2011, S192507.) On June 15, 2011, the remittitur was issued.

In December 2009, plaintiff again sued defendant, as well as her husband and two children. (CT 24-33.³) Plaintiff claimed that defendant and her husband had fraudulently transferred three parcels of real property out of defendant's name shortly after the jury verdict in order to avoid satisfaction of the judgment. (*Ibid.*) On June 7, 2010, the fraudulent transfer lawsuit was dismissed in a settlement, in which defendant and her family agreed to transfer the property back into defendant's name so that it was available to satisfy the judgment.

(CT 35-38, 41.)

This document was attached as document number 4 to plaintiff's *Motion to Augment the Record* filed in the court of appeal on September 5, 2012. The *Motion to Augment* was granted on September 25, 2012.

[&]quot;CT" refers to Clerk's Transcript on Appeal filed in the court of appeal on February 9, 2012.

Defendant paid the judgment in the underlying case through a series of payments between May 2011 and July 15, 2011. (*Reed*, supra, p. 8, ¶ 19; CT 63, 65, 67, 68.)

On July 25, 2011, within 40 days of the remittitur, plaintiff moved for additional attorney fees and costs for defending the judgment on appeal and bringing the second lawsuit to enforce the judgment. (CT 8-33.) Defendant argued that plaintiff was barred from filing a motion, because the underlying judgment had been paid. (CT 51-61.) The trial court found the motion was timely, granted the motion as to "reasonable attorneys' fees incurred on appeal and in connection with related collection efforts" and awarded plaintiff \$56,974.50, but denied the motion as to costs. (CT 105-108.)

On February 7, 2013, the court of appeal reversed the trial court order granting additional attorney fees and awarded defendant costs on appeal. (*Conservatorship of McQueen* (unpub. Feb. 2, 2013, A34337) (hereinafter *McQueen II*).)

LEGAL DISCUSSION

On *de novo* review, the court of appeal held that plaintiff's motion for attorney fees was untimely:

[T]he statutory scheme governing the recovery of postjudgment attorney fees unambiguously required [plaintiff] to request attorney fees before the underlying judgment had been satisfied. Here, [plaintiff] deposited [defendant]'s last payment in full satisfaction of the judgment on or about July 15, 2011, leading [defendant] to believe she had fully satisfied her entire obligation. [Citation omitted.] Ten days later, [plaintiff] filed a "Second Motion for Reasonable Attorney Fees and Costs" requesting additional attorney fees and costs in the amount of \$57,681.90. Given that [plaintiff]'s July 25, 2011 motion was filed after [defendant] fully satisfied the judgment, [plaintiff] was precluded from recovering more postjudgment costs and attorney fees.

(McQueen II, supra, A34337, p. 5 (italics added).)

This Court independently reviews a court of appeal's decision and has explained that: "We have no need to defer, because we can ourselves conduct the same analysis. In fact, we have need *not* to defer, in order to be free to further the uniform articulation and application of the law within our jurisdiction." (*Smiley v. Citibank (South Dakota)*, *N.A.* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 138, 146 *aff'd sub nom. Smiley v. Citibank (South Dakota)*, *N.A.* (1996) 517 U.S. 735.)

In this case, the court of appeal's decision should be reversed, because: (1) the financial elder abuse statute separately and independently mandates an award to plaintiff of attorney fees for the prior appeal and enforcement, and (2) the enforcement of judgments

law should also entitle plaintiff to an award. Moreover, plaintiff should be awarded attorney fees and costs for this fee claim and appeal.

I THE FINANCIAL ELDER ABUSE STATUTE AND OTHER SUBSTANTIVE FEE SHIFTING STATUTES AUTHORIZE AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS FOR ANAPPEAL OR **ENFORCEMENT** IRRESPECTIVE **OF** THE ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENTS LAW

The financial elder abuse statute and other substantive fee shifting statutes authorize an award of attorney fees and costs for an appeal or enforcement of a judgment separately and independently from the enforcement of judgments law.

A THE FINANCIAL ELDER ABUSE STATUTE AND OTHER SUBSTANTIVE FEE SHIFTING STATUTES AUTHORIZE AN AWARD FOR AN APPEAL

In *Morcos v. Board of Retirement*, this Court held that substantive fee shifting statutes authorize attorney fees for an appeal⁴. ((1990) 51 Cal.3d 924, 927 [reversing court of appeal's denial of attorney fees under denial of benefits statute].) *Morcos* is similar to plaintiff's case. Both *Morcos* and plaintiff were the prevailing

⁴ Costs on appeal were not at issue.

plaintiffs in cases involving statutes that authorized "reasonable attorney's fees⁵." (*Id.* at 936-27; CT 105-108.) Both were awarded attorney fees for services in the trial court. (51 Cal.3d at 926; CT 105-

If a superior court reverses the denial by the board of an application for a retirement allowance, . . . or for a claim based on a claimed pension right or benefit, the superior court in its discretion may award *reasonable attorney's fees* as costs to the member . . . who successfully appealed [to the superior court] the denial of such application.

(51 Cal.3d at 927, n. 2 (italics added).)

Plaintiff is entitled to fees under the financial elder abuse statute, section 15657.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, in which subdivision (a) provides:

Where it is proven by a preponderance of the evidence that a defendant is liable for financial abuse, as defined in Section 15610.30, in addition to compensatory damages and all other remedies otherwise provided by law, the court shall award to the plaintiff *reasonable attorney's fees* and costs. The term "costs" includes, but is not limited to reasonable fees for the services of a conservator, if any devoted to the litigation of a claim brought under this article.

(Italics added.)

Morcos was entitled to fees under the denial of benefits statute, section 31536 of the Government Code, which provided in relevant part:

108.) But both were denied fees for appellate services by the court of appeal. (51 Cal.3d at 926; *McQueen II*, *supra*, A34337.)

In *Morcos*, this Court reversed the judgment of the court of appeal and held that an attorney fee statute covers fees at trial and on appeal:

"[I]t is established that fees, if recoverable at all pursuant either to statute or parties' agreement - are available for services at trial and on appeal." (Italics added.) (Serrano v. Unruh (1982) 32 Cal.3d 621, 637 [186 Cal.Rptr. 754, 652 P.2d 985]; accord Russell v. Thermalito Union School Dist. (1981) 115 Cal.App.3d 880 [176 Cal.Rptr. 1].) Indeed, appellate courts have consistently permitted a successful party to recover attorney fees incurred on appeal when a statute expressly permits such an award in the trial court or other lower tribunal.

(51 Cal.3d at 927 (italics in original).)

Similarly, this Court should reverse plaintiff's case. Plaintiff has a stronger argument for appellate fees than Morcos. Morcos's statute explicitly provided that "the superior court in its discretion may award reasonable attorney's fees," but the financial elder abuse statute on which plaintiff relies does not limit itself to a specific court and requires an award of attorney fees and costs. (*Morcos*, *supra*, 51 Cal.3d at 927; Welf. & Inst. Code, § 15657.5, subd. (a).)

Notably, in *Marcos*, this Court did not refer to, much less rely on, the enforcement of judgments law to authorize appellate attorney fees, despite the fact that the law had been enacted over seven years before⁶.

That the financial elder abuse statute and other substantive fee shifting statutes authorize attorney fees and costs for an appeal separately and independently from the enforcement of judgments law is consistent with the California Rules of Court. Under the Rules, a party must move for appellate attorney fees and file a memorandum for appellate costs within 40 days of notice of remittitur, irrespective of satisfaction of the judgment. (Cal. Rules of Court, rules 3.1702(c)(1) and 8.891(c)(1) ⁷.) However, the enforcement of

Morcos was decided on November 26, 1990, but the enforcement of judgments law under Code of Civil Procedure section 685.040 was operative as of July 1, 1983.

⁷ California Rules of Court, rule 3.1702(c)(1) provides in relevant part:

A notice of motion to claim attorney's fees on appeal – other than the attorney's fees on appeal claimed under (b) – under a statute or contract requiring the court to determine entitlement to the fees, the amount of the fees, or both, must be served and filed within the time for

judgments law requires a party to move or file a memorandum for enforcement costs before satisfaction of the judgment. (Code Civ. Proc., §§ 685.070, subd. (b), and 685.080, subd. (a) 8.)

fn 7 cont'd:

serving and filing the memorandum of costs under rule 8.278(c)(1)...

(Italics added.)

California Rules of Court, rule 8.278(c)(1) provides:

Within 40 days after the clerk sends notice of issuance of the remittitur, a party claiming costs awarded by a reviewing court must serve and file in the superior court a verified memorandum of costs under rule 3.1700

(Italics added.)

Subdivision (b) of section 685.070 of the Code of Civil Procedure provides:

Before the judgment is fully satisfied but not later than two years after the costs have been incurred, the judgment creditor claiming costs under this section shall file a memorandum of costs with the court clerk and serve a copy on the judgment debtor. Service shall be made personally or by mail. The memorandum of costs shall be executed under oath by a person who has knowledge of the facts and shall state that to the person's best knowledge and belief the costs are correct, are reasonable and necessary, and have not been satisfied.

(Italics added.)

In this case, the court of appeal failed to distinguish between attorney fees for the appeal and those for enforcement. The court also failed to acknowledge that the financial elder abuse statute mandates an award of fees for both irrespective of the enforcement of judgments law. The court of appeal noted that the trial court cited the enforcement of judgments law, and the court of appeal apparently assumed that the fees could only be affirmed under that law. (McQueen II, supra, A34337, p. 4.)

fn 8 cont'd:

Subdivision (a) of section 685.080 of the Code of Civil Procedure provides:

The judgment creditor may claim costs authorized by Section 685.040 by noticed motion. The motion shall be made before the judgment is satisfied in full, but not later than two years after the costs have been incurred. The costs claimed under this section may include, but are not limited to, costs that may be claimed under Section 685.070 and costs incurred but not approved by the court or referee in a proceeding under Chapter 6 (commencing with Section 708.010 of Division 2.

(Italics added.)

However, an appealed order correct on any theory will generally be affirmed even if the trial court's reasoning may have been erroneous:

No rule of decision is better or more firmly established by authority, nor one resting upon a sounder basis of reason and propriety, than that a ruling or decision, itself correct in law, will not be disturbed on appeal merely because given for a wrong reason. If right upon any theory of the law applicable to the case, it must be sustained regardless of the considerations which may have moved the trial court to its conclusion.

(Davey v. Southern Pac. Co. (1897) 116 Cal. 325, 329 (italics added) [affirming legally correct judgment and order irrespective of trial court's reasoning].)

B THE FINANCIAL ELDER ABUSE STATUTE AND OTHER SUBSTANTIVE FEE SHIFTING STATUTES AUTHORIZE AN AWARD FOR ENFORCEMENT

Substantive fee shifting statutes authorize an award of attorney fees and costs for a separate, but related, civil case, irrespective of the enforcement of judgments law. (*Downen's, Inc. v. City of Hawaiian Gardens Redevelopment Agency* (2001) 86 Cal.App.4th 856, 862-64 [reversing and remanding where trial court denied award for enforcement action under inverse condemnation statute]; *Wallace v. Consumers Cooperative of Berkeley, Inc.* (1985) 170 Cal.App.3d 836,

846-50 [upholding award for civil penalty action and administrative hearing under private attorney general statute]; see also *City of San Jose v. Great Oaks Water Company* (1987) 192 Cal.App.3d 1005, 1020 [upholding award of attorneys fees for administrative hearing under eminent domain statute].)

In *Downen's, Inc. v. City of Hawaiian Gardens Redevelopment Agency*, the court of appeal held that a substantive fee shifting statute authorizes attorney fees and costs for a separate action to enforce a judgment. (86 Cal.App.4th at 862-63.) *Downen's* is similar to plaintiff's case. Both Downen's, Inc. and plaintiff were the prevailing plaintiffs in cases involving statutes that mandated reasonable attorney fees and costs⁹. (*Id.*, at 860; CT 105-108.) Both were awarded

Downen's, Inc. was entitled to fees under the inverse condemnation statute, section 1036 of the Code of Civil Procedure, which provided:

In any inverse condemnation proceeding, the court rendering judgment for the plaintiff by awarding compensation, or the attorney representing the public entity who effects a settlement of that proceeding, shall determine and award or allow to the plaintiff as part of that judgment or settlement, a sum that will, in the opinion of the court, reimburse the plaintiff's reasonable costs, disbursements, and expenses, including reasonable attorney, appraisal, and engineering fees, actually

attorney fees and costs for their services in the trial court. (86 Cal.App.4th at 859; *Reed*, *supra*, p. 8, ¶ 16.) But both were denied fees for a separate action to enforce the judgment. (86 Cal.App.4th at 859; *McQueen II*, *supra*, A34337.)

In *Downen's*, the court of appeal reversed, held that a fee shifting statute covers attorney fees and costs for an enforcement action, and explained that "[b]y construing [a fee shifting statute] to permit plaintiffs to recover their litigation expenses, we implement the Legislature's purpose." (86 Cal.App.4th at 862-64.)

Similarly, this Court should reverse plaintiff's case. Plaintiff has a stronger argument for enforcement fees and costs that Downen's, Inc. Downen's, Inc.'s statute explicitly provided that it authorized fees and costs "actually incurred because of that proceeding in the trial court or any appellate proceeding in which the plaintiff prevails on any issue in that proceeding," but the financial

fn 9 cont'd:

incurred *because of that proceeding* in the trial court or in any appellate proceeding in which the plaintiff prevails on any issue in that proceeding.

(86 Cal.App.4th at 860 (italics in original).)

elder abuse statute on which plaintiff relies does not limit itself to the underlying proceeding. (86 Cal.App.4th at 860; Welf. & Inst. Code, § 15657.5, subd. (a).)

Notably, in *Downen's*, the court of appeal explained that it could not rely on the enforcement of judgments law to authorize fees or costs. (86 Cal.App.4th at 863-64.) In that case, the losing party was a city agency, and the enforcement of judgments law only authorizes fees and costs from a private party. (*Ibid.*)

In this case, the court of appeal failed to distinguish between attorney fees for enforcement and appeal, and to acknowledge that the financial elder abuse statute requires an award for both.

C PUBLIC POLICY AND LEGISLATIVE INTENT BEHIND THE FINANCIAL ELDER ABUSE STATUTE AND OTHER SUBSTANTIVE FEE SHIFTING STATUTES SUPPORT AN AWARD FOR AN APPEAL AND ENFORCEMENT

The legislature enacts substantive fee shifting statutes, because they are necessary to promote public policy:

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