NO. S209376

Conservatorship of the Estate of IDA McQUEEN: FESSHA TAYE, as Conservator of the Estate of Ida McQueen,
Plaintiff and Respondent

v.

CAROL VERES REED, Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Four Case No. A134337

SEP - 9 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

On Appeal from an Order of the Superior Court of California,
County of Alameda
The Honorable Judge Jo-Lynne Lee
Case No. HP05237122

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

James E. Reed (SBN 072345)
Brooke Veres Reed (SBN 259137)
3433 Golden Gate Way. Suite C
Lafayette, CA 94549
(925) 299-7893
Attorney for Defendant/Appellant

NO. S209376

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

LEGAL ARGUMENTS

I. THIS COURT IS LIMITED TO THE REVIEW OF ISSUES THAT WERE RAISED IN THE COURT OF APPEAL AND WHICH WERE STATED AS ISSUES PRESENTED IN THE PETITION FOR REVIEW.

The California Rules of Court limit the review by the Supreme Court to issues that were timely raised in the Court of Appeal. Cal. R. Ct. § 8.500(c)(1). Furthermore,

bodies on the merits must be limited to the statement of issues in the Petition for Review and any issues fairly included in them. Cal. R. Ct. § 8.520(b)(3).

In its Opinion, the Court of Appeal noted that in Respondent's Brief, Respondent did not address any of the main issues governing the appeal. Respondent did not dispute that the attorney's fees and expenses expended in seeking to defeat Appellant's appeal and bringing a separate lawsuit to make sure assets are available to satisfy Judgment fall under ambit of what is compensable under 685.040, nor did Respondent attempt to distinguish or refute the reasoning of Carnes v. Zamani, that the judgment creditor must request post-judgment attorney's fees before the underlying judgment is fully satisfied. 488 Fed. 3d at 1061. Neither did Respondent dispute the chronology of events that the Judgment was fully satisfied ten days before Respondent filed a motion for additional fees. The only relevant argument that Respondent made was that he complied with time limit of California Rules of Court Section 3.1702(c) for a motion to claim attorney's fees on appeal. Reed v. Limited Conservatorship of Ida McQueen, (unpublished February 2, 2013, A134337).

In Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits, Respondent now makes several arguments that were not brought before

the Court of Appeal, nor are they included as the two core issues stated in Respondent's Petition for Review and Opening Brief. Appellant will therefore largely limit her arguments to the Issues Presented in the Petition for Review and Opening Brief and any issues fairly included in them, and those which were before the Court of Appeal. Appellant requests that this Court limit its review to those issues as well. The sole two issues which should be addressed are 1) "[w]hether the procedures for collection of post-judgment costs under Code of Civil Procedure §§ 685.040, et seq. govern the claims of a successful plaintiff for statutorily mandated fees under California's Elder Abuse Act for her efforts at protecting her judgment," and 2) "[w]hether satisfaction of the underlying elder financial abuse judgment acts as a bar to a subsequent motion for attorney's fees by petitioner." [Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits, 1.] Said more plainly, the two issues to be discussed are whether attorney's fees and costs awarded under the Elder Abuse Act are governed by the Enforcement of Judgments Law (Code of Civil Procedure Sections 680.010 et seq.) and if so, whether full satisfaction of the underlying Judgment bars a subsequent motion for attorney's fees and costs under Sections 685.070 and 685.080.

THE STANDERY'S FEES AND COSTS AWARDED UNDER THE ELDER ABUSE FOR A GOVERNED BY THE ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENTS LAW AND THE SUBJECT TO THE LIMITATIONS OF CODE OF CIVIL PROBLEME SECTIONS 685.070 and 685.080.

A. Court Has Stated that Attorney's Fees Provided by State Are Permissible as Costs Under Section 685.40.

Its Opinion, the Appellate Court pointed out that this Court, in Ketchum v. Moses, 24 Cal. 4th 1122, 1141 (2001), "construed an underlying attorney's fees statute so as to authorize attorney's fees under the "otherwise provided by law" language of (Section) 685.040." Reed v. Limited Conservatorship of Ida McQueen, (unpublished February 2, 2013, A134337). In Ketchum, this Court reasoned that Section 685.040 provides that attorney's fees are not allowed in enforcement efforts "unless there is some other legal basis for such an award." Id. at 1141. In its Opinion, the Appellate Court likens Ketchum to the case at bar, where the attorney's fee provision under the Elder Abuse Act (Welfare and Institutions Code Section 15657.5) is the "other legal basis" for the award of fees under Section 685.040. Indeed, Respondent relied on Section 685.040 in its post-Judgment attorney's fee motion and the trial court relied on it in its order granting said motion. It is disingenuous for Respondent to now argue that those same requested attorney's fees do not fall under Section 685.040.

Respondent also argues that appellate fees fall under the Enforcement of Judgments Law. Appellants concede that they do. But in Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits, Respondent relies heavily on two cases, Morcos v. Board of Retirement, 51 Cal. 3d 924 (1990) and Downen's, Inc. v. City of Hawaiian Gardens Redevelopment Agency, 86 Cal. App. 4th 856 (2001), to demonstrate that attorney's fees are recoverable on appeal and for enforcement of Judgment "irrespective" of the Enforcement of Judgments Law. However, as pointed out by the court in Downen's and also by Respondent in Respondent's Brief, "the Enforcement of Judgment Law provides procedures for enforcing judgments against private entities and individuals" and therefore does not apply to actions brought under the California Government Code. Id. at 864; See also Civ. Proc. Code § 683.320. However, Respondent does not point out that the attorney's fees provision in Morcos was also provided under the Government Code, and therefore the Enforcement of Judgments Law would not apply there either. Therefore any reliance by Respondent on either of these cases to demonstrate that fees and costs are allowed under the Elder Abuse Act irrespective of the Enforcement of Judgments law is dubious and misleading. Respondent's Brief fails to provide any authority or cite any cases that involve an

attorney's fees for a private entity that demonstrate an attorney fee statute mandates an award of fees irrespective of the Enforcement of Judgments Law. No such authority exists.

B. The Elder Abuse Act is Subject to the Same Procedural Rules as Any Other Law.

Respondent seems to suggest, without actually developing an argument for it, that the statute mandating attorney's fees under the Elder Abuse Act is outside the Enforcement of Judgment Act because of its aim to promote public policy. Respondent has provided no authority to back up such a proposition. Claims brought under the Elder Abuse Act are subject to the same procedural limits as all other laws. For instance, the statute of limitations to commence an action for Elder Abuse is four years. Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 15657.7. Despite the import of the Elder Abuse Act, if a party fails to bring an action under the Act within four years, that party is precluded from later doing so, no matter how egregious the wrongdoing. Similarly, if Respondent had filed the motion for additional attorney's fees even one day later, 41 days after Remittitur, Respondent would have been precluded from filing such a motion under California Rule of Court Section 3.1702, the very same statute Respondent has argued is controlling.

Procedural limits exist no matter what the underlying substantive claim, and the Elder Abuse Act is subject to the Enforcement of Judgments Law just like all other judgments awarded to private entities.

There is nothing in the Enforcement of Judgments law that exempts attorney's fees awarded under the Elder Abuse Act. There is nothing in the Enforcement of Judgments Law that exempts judgments related to public policy or otherwise special claims. The only limitation that appears anywhere in the Enforcement of Judgments Law is that it does not apply to public entities. Civ. Proc. Code § 683.320. What Respondent is asking this Court to do is to make an exception to the Enforcement of Judgments Law or to the time rule found in Section 685.080 for attorney's fees awarded under the Elder Abuse Act where no such authority exists to do so. To grant Respondent that request would frustrate legislative intent and effectively create a new provision of the statute. This cannot and must not be done.

C. The Legislative Purpose for Attorney's Fees Under the Elder Abuse Act Have Already Been Satisfied in this Case and Any Additional Attorney's Fees Awarded Would Frustrate Public Policy.

Appellant concedes and understands the importance of the attorney's fees provision of the Elder Abuse Act. However, Respondent relies on the argument that attorney's fees are

necessary because without them, the elderly claimant's assets may deplete in such cases in order to pay these attorney's fees. Once again, Appellant concedes this point, but at the same time is alarmed by the implication of Respondent's Brief. Failing to timely file a motion for post-Judgment attorney's fees was a procedural error caused by Respondent's attorneys alone. Respondent's attorneys had plenty of advance notice from Appellant's attorney James E. Reed before the Judgment was fully satisfied. Weeks before the Judgment was satisfied, Mr. Reed sent Daniel Murphy a demand for the balance of the Judgment, and after receiving no response, Mr. Reed mailed Mr. Murphy a check for what he calculated to be the balance of the Judgment, without interest. Later, a week before the Judgment was satisfied, a different attorney for Respondent sent Mr. Reed a letter demanding the interest from the Judgment, and only then did Mr. Reed fully satisfy the Judgment by sending Respondent's attorneys a check. Even knowing weeks ahead of time that the Judgment would soon be satisfied, Respondent's attorneys failed to timely file the motion. Furthermore, Code of Civil Procedure Section 724.010 provides "the obligation of the judgment creditor to give or file an acknowledgment of satisfaction of judgment arises only when the check. . . has actually been honored upon presentation

deposite the check until after a motion for additional fees was filed, but instead they deposited the check immediately up: seceipt. It would be unconscionable if Mr. Murphy remained those additional fees and costs to be borne by Remaindent - Mr. Murphy alone should bear the costs for a mistake he himself made. Fortunately, a court order is required for attorney's fees to be paid from the estate of the ward or conservatee. Prob. Code § 2647. Therefore, the arguments in favor of attorney's fees in this particular situation for elder abuse would not carry out the legislative intent to protect the elderly - it would only protect an attorney who failed to follow correct procedure.

Between the underlying Judgment, the associated attorney's fees, and interest, Appellant has already paid over \$400,000 for any wrongdoing she might have done to Ms. McQueen, the overwhelming majority of which has gone to Respondent's attorneys. Appellant has paid this amount, even though she never received any money at the expense of Ms. McQueen in the first place, and even though the State Bar found that Appellant's actions were not deemed serious and involved no dishonesty, no trust violation, and no harm or indifference. Ms. McQueen received an award of less than \$100,000, but it is her attorneys, most especially Mr.

Markey, who has benefitted the most from this unfortunate saccestion. Respondent's attorneys have made a lot of money from Appellant from her mistake, and Respondent is now asking this Court to allow these attorneys to make even more from her, even after she satisfied the Judgment in full and despite a procedural error made by the attorneys themselves. It is hard to imagine that this is what the legislature had in mind when they authorized mandatory attorney's fees under the Elder Abuse Act.

III. FULL SATISFACTION OF THE JUDGMENT UNDER THE ELDER ABUSE ACT BARRED RESPONDENT'S SUBSEQUENT MOTION FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS.

A. Code of Civil Procedure Sections 685.070 and 685.080 Clearly State a Motion for Fees and Costs Must Be Made Before the Judgment is Satisfied in Full.

California Code of Civil Procedure Section 685.040 provides that "[t]he judgment creditor is entitled to the reasonable and necessary costs of enforcing a judgment . . . Attorney's fees incurred in enforcing a judgment are included as costs collectible under this title if the underlying judgment includes an award of attorney's fees to the judgment creditor." Code of Civil Procedure Sections 685.070 and 685.080 limit this award, and both explicitly state that the Motion and Memorandum for costs under Section 685.040 must be made before the judgment is satisfied in full. Code Civ. Proc. §§ 685.070(b);

685.080(a). Section 685.080(b) goes as far as to require that the Notice of Motion requesting costs include an affidavit by a person with knowledge of the facts stating that the judgment has not been satisfied, which also was not done in this case.

In Carnes v. Zamani, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals examined this exact situation: "[b]ecause their right to recover post-judgment attorney fees is dependent on section 685.040, the Carneses were required to comply with the timeliness requirements for post-judgment attorney fee motions set forth in the [California Enforcement of Judgment's Law]. Sections 685.070 and 685.080 require that a motion for fees incurred in enforcing a judgment be filed before the underlying judgment is fully satisfied. Because the Carneses filed their post-judgment fee motion after the underlying judgment was fully satisfied, the motion was untimely." 488 Fed. 3d at 1061. The Court of Appeal in its Opinion found Carnes persuasive and precisely on point, even though it was a Federal case interpreting California law. (See Adams v. Pacific Bell Directory, 111 Cal. App. 4th 93, 97 (2003): "although not binding, we give great weight to federal appellate court decisions.") Reed v. Limited Conservatorship of Ida McQueen, (unpublished February 2, 2013, A134337). Furthermore, the California

Court of Appeal confirmed and reiterated the ruling in Carnes in Lee, 185 Cal. App. 4th 125, 144, (2010).

As is clear from the record and has never been disputed by Respondent, Respondent did not file the Second Motion for Attorney Fees until ten days after the underlying Judgment was satisfied. Under Sections 685.070 and 685.080 and Carnes, this motion was untimely, and therefore should have been denied outright.

Respondent's argument at the appellate level was that the motion was timely because it was filed on the 40th day after Remittitur was filed, thereby complying with the time limit of California Rules of Court Section 3.1702(c). The Appellate Court addressed this issue fully, pointing out that Section 3.1702 applies "except as otherwise provided by statute." No such qualifier exists anywhere in the Enforcement of Judgments Law. The Appellate Court concluded that "facially, rule 3.1702 was not intended to prevail over the statutory language of sections 685.070 and 685.080, both of which plainly preclude a postjudgment request for additional fees and costs after the judgment has been fully satisfied." Reed v. Limited Conservatorship of Ida McQueen, (unpublished February 2, 2013, A134337).

therefore Respondent's motion was not timely, even though

the Appellate Court also explained why the timing limination found in sections 685.070 and 685.080 is so ing thant, citing Lucky: "the statutory purpose of regarding that the motion for enforcement costs be brought "before the judgment is satisfied in full" (§ 685.080, subd. (a)) is to avoid a situation where a judgment debtor has paid off the entirety of what he believes to be his obligation in the entire case, only to be confronted later with a motion for yet more fees." 185 Cal. App. 4th at 144; Reed v. Limited Conservatorship of Ida McQueen, (unpublished February 2, 2013, A134337). When Appellant paid Respondent the full Judgment for the underlying action, she was under the assumption she had paid all costs and fees necessary in this action. By depositing the final check, Respondent reaffirmed that sentiment. It would therefore be unfair and against settled law to award Respondent's attorneys fees after the Judgment was satisfied.

B. The Statutes Are Clear That a Motion for Fees and Costs Must Be Made Before the Judgment is Satisfied, Not "Within a Reasonable Time" After it Has Been Satisfied.

Respondent spends significant time suggesting that

Code of Civil Procedure Sections 685.070 and 685.080 should

a reasonable time" after the judgment has been brought up in the Court of Appeal, Appellant will address this claim so as to fully lay it to rest.

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